SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BARRY L. BERGES,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC01-2846

INFINITY INSURANCE COMPANY, formerly known as Dixie Insurance Company,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT CASE NOS. 2D99-5014 and 2D00-1972

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, FL 32503 (850) 475-1211 (850) 475-1290 Fax

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Barry L. Berges, plaintiff in the trial court, seeks review of a decision from the District Court of Appeal, Second District, which reversed a final judgment entered upon a jury verdict in his favor in his insurance bad faith-excess judgment action brought against Infinity Insurance Company. Berges contends the decision should be quashed because the district court misconstrued or misapplied settled Florida law in the fields of insurance bad faith and probate and guardianship.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Underlying Accident and Insurance Coverage

On March 29, 1990, Linda D. Moody was driving an automobile owned by Barry L. Berges when she crossed the center line and collided head-on with an automobile owned and operated by Mary Viola Taylor in which her minor daughter, Christina Taylor, was riding as a passenger. (R-31 E18). Mrs. Taylor was killed and Christina suffered serious injuries. (R-31 E23-26).

Berges was insured by a policy of automobile liability insurance issued by Dixie Insurance Company, now known as Infinity Insurance Company, with bodily injury liability limits of \$10,000 per person and \$20,000 per accident. (R-31 E1-2, 19). Berges provided insurance information to the Florida Highway Patrol but did not immediately report the accident to Infinity because he thought the investigating officer would make the necessary report. (R-31 E15; R-45 ST 20-21).

James Taylor, Mary Viola Taylor's widower and Christina Taylor's father, consulted attorney Dale Swope to represent his family in connection with the accident. (R-42 1125). By letter dated April 16, 1990, Swope's paralegal notified Infinity of the

accident and of Swope's representation and requested a certified copy of the insurance policy and information concerning policy limits and coverage. (R-31 E17). In its insurance disclosure form dated April 27, 1990, Infinity notified Swope that it was reserving the right to deny coverage based on Berges' failure to give the company immediate notice of the accident and the possibility that Moody was a resident of Berges' household who should have been identified on the insurance application. (R-31 E19). Infinity mailed Berges a reservation of rights letter dated May 2, 1990, questioning coverage on the same grounds. (R-31 E9). The reservation of rights letter did not mention the likelihood of an excess judgment or suggest any steps Berges might take to protect himself from that eventuality. (R-31 E49). On May 8, 1990, Infinity completed its coverage investigation and concluded there were no policy defenses, determining that the insurer was not adversely affected by Berges' failure to immediately notify the company about the accident. (R-31 E13; R-39 725). Infinity did not inform Berges of its favorable coverage decision. (R-39 728, 730; R-45 ST 24).

Settlement Negotiations and Communications with the Insured

By April 30, 1990, Infinity's investigation confirmed that its insured driver had been intoxicated and was "100%" at fault; Mrs. Taylor died as a result of her accidentrelated injuries; and Christina Taylor sustained severe injuries with over \$30,000 in medical bills. (R-31 E15, 23-26; R-38 423-24; R-39 724). Based on this information, Infinity knew by that date that the damages sustained by the Taylor estate and Christina exceeded the insured's policy limits. (R-37 263).

On May 2, 1990, the adjuster assigned to the claim, Robert Fryer, received a

letter from attorney Swope notifying Infinity that he was no longer representing Taylor in the wrongful death and bodily injury claims. (R-31 E13, 27). Fryer called Swope's office that same date and learned that Swope had filed "probate papers" for Taylor. (R-31 E13). Also on May 2, 1990, Taylor personally delivered to Fryer at Infinity's office a handwritten letter offering to settle all claims based on the following essential terms: (1) \$2,500 for damage to the Taylor vehicle plus \$25 per day loss of use; (2) \$10,000 for Christina Taylor's bodily injury claim payable by June 1, 1990, or if payment could not be made by June 1, 1990, the funds to be placed in an interest-bearing account with the interest accruing to Christina Taylor's benefit; and (3) \$10,000 for the death of Marion Viola Taylor payable within twenty-five days, or if payment could not be made within twenty-five days, the funds to be placed in an interest-bearing account with the interest accruing to the estate's benefit. (R-31 E28-48). Taylor indicated in his letter that if settlement of his daughter's claim required "special papers to be filed in court," he would "work with your [Infinity's] lawyers to handle that." (R-31 E30). Taylor also confirmed that Swope had "filed the papers to have me made representative of the estate and I will pay him to finish that," but he further indicated that "[i]f we have to file papers in court on this settlement [wrongful death claim] I will work with your lawyers to do that." (R-31 E30). Tavlor emphasized that unless the money was paid either to him or into the escrow accounts by the stated deadlines, "there is no deal." (R-31 E31). Infinity did not send Berges a copy of Taylor's letter or otherwise inform its insured that a settlement offer had been submitted, even though the insurer had notified Berges by letter dated May 2, 1990, that it was reserving the right to completely deny coverage for the accident. (R-

39 656, 731-32; R-45 ST 23-24).

After obtaining policy limits settlement authority from his supervisor, Fryer contacted Taylor by telephone on May 11, 1990. (R-31 E11). During that conversation, Fryer offered Taylor \$10,000 for the wrongful death claim and \$10,000 for Christina's bodily injury claim, but only \$1,000 for property damage and only \$10 per day for loss of use. (R-31 E10-11). Fryer's handwritten notes indicate that he told Taylor "we need court approval on his daughter because of her age and copies of the probate papers on his wife naming him as executor of her estate to settle that portion." (R-31 E11). In this respect, Fryer told Taylor that "we as the insurance company would pay an attorney to arrange for the court approval of the settlement, that it would be no charge to him, that we would take care of the paperwork necessary for the guardianship to be set up and for us to set up the follow-up with him for the estate of his wife." (R-40 784). Although Infinity and Taylor both understood that court approvals were necessary, Infinity never questioned Taylor's authority to negotiate a settlement on behalf of the estate and the injured child. (R-41 964). Infinity did not inform Berges about its May 11 conversation with Taylor. (R-39 656-57; R-45 ST 25).

Fryer's notes of the May 11 conversation with Taylor further indicate that he "advised claimant that [he] was to meet with our atty on 5-14-90 to discuss court approval and that we would be in touch in the near future regarding the progress made in that respect." (R-31 E10). The meeting, however, between Fryer and the lawyer selected by Infinity to obtain the necessary court approvals, Kevin Korth, did not take place on May 14 as contemplated. (R-39 649). On May 16, Fryer mailed a letter to

Korth asking his office "to arrange a court approved settlement on Christina Taylor" and informing Korth that Taylor had "applied to the courts to have himself named as the representative of his wife's estate and we should deal directly with him concerning settlement of his deceased wife's bodily injury claim." (R-31 E55). The record indicates that Taylor, through attorney Swope, filed a petition for administration on May 2, 1990, and was appointed personal representative on May 14, 1990. (R-34 E777-82). The order required Taylor to post a bond before issuance of letters of administration. (R-34 E782). Letters of administration were issued to Taylor on June 20, 1990. (R-34 E786).

Fryer testified at trial that he "felt" the settlement deadlines imposed by Taylor's May 2 letter had been suspended after his May 11 conversation with Taylor. (R-39 643; R-40 792). Taylor disagreed and testified that although the time limits were not specifically discussed on May 11, he "assumed the man [Fryer] was fulfilling the obligation to the letter that I had submitted to him." (R-42 1139). Consistent with Taylor's understanding, Fryer told Korth in his May 16 letter that Infinity was operating under a "time demand" as outlined by Taylor's May 2 letter which he enclosed for Korth's review. (R-31 E55). On May 23, 1990, Korth called Fryer to advise that he would be "unable to have court approval in time for exp[iration] of time demand" but that he would write Taylor.¹ (R-31 E9). Fryer's notes contain nothing contrary to Korth's understanding that the settlement deadlines were still operative. (R-41 983; R-43 1375-76). Further confirming the viability of the deadlines, in the

¹ Korth apparently had never handled a court approval for a minor's settlement. (R-37 303-04).

insurer's 30-day report dated May 29, 1990, Bobbie Walker, Fryer's supervisor, directed Fryer to "[f]ollow up w/ Kevin Korth & copy of letter re: time demand pronto." (R-34 E736; R-39 660).

During their May 11 conversation, Fryer told Taylor "we would be in touch in the near future" to discuss the paperwork necessary to consummate the settlement. (R-31 E10). To that end, attorney Korth wrote Taylor on May 24, 1990, to inform Taylor that he was preparing the necessary guardianship papers. (R-31 E56). However, because Korth's office used an incorrect zip code, Taylor did not receive Korth's letter until June 20, 1990, after the settlement deadlines had expired on May 28 and June 1, 1990.² (R-31 E58; R-34 E767). Although Fryer told Taylor he "would be in touch in the near future," he never contacted Taylor after their May 11 meeting (R-39 650); Fryer's supervisor did not follow up (R-38 493); and the company did not maintain a diary or tickler system to alert the adjusters to critical deadlines. (R-40 827, 832; R-42 1068-70). Infinity never asked Taylor to extend the settlement deadlines, although Fryer testified such extensions are routinely requested (R-39 655), and never explored the feasibility of establishing the interest-bearing escrow accounts requested by Taylor in his May 2 letter. (R-37 294; R-38 490, 495; R-39 641-42, 720; R-40 798).

Having heard nothing further from Infinity by the expiration of the settlement deadlines, Taylor consulted Swope who notified Fryer by letter dated June 11, 1990, that Taylor's settlement offer was revoked and that suit would be filed against the

 $^{^2}$ On the inside address, Korth correctly listed Taylor's zip code as 33527 but used 32257 on the envelope. (R-31 E56, 58).

insureds. (R-31 E62-63). On June 25, 1990, Swope filed the wrongful death and personal injury complaint as contemplated. (R-34 E775). After receiving the suit papers, Berges immediately contacted Fryer for a status report on the claim. (R-31 E84). Fryer spoke with Berges by telephone on June 25, 1990, but still did not inform Berges about any of the settlement negotiations. (R-39 745). By letter dated June 26, 1990, almost one month after the settlement deadlines had expired, Infinity advised Berges for the first time about the possibility of an excess judgment and his right to retain independent counsel. (R-31 E85-87; R-38 495-96; R-39 656). In a postscript, Infinity told Berges "that we have offered to pay your policy limits of \$20,000 for the above claim, but Mr. Taylor is refusing to settle for that amount." (R-31 E86). Fryer conceded at trial that the postscript did not accurately reflect his negotiations with Taylor. (R-39 742). The postscript did not mention the settlement deadlines and other terms of Taylor's May 2 settlement offer or that Infinity had allowed the deadlines to expire without contacting Taylor regarding the court approvals which the company had promised to obtain on May 11. (R-37 287-88; R-38 495-96; R-39 656, 731-32).

<u>Cunningham Settlement Offers</u>

On August 31, 1990, Swope wrote Infinity's attorney and offered to accept policy limits and release Berges and Moody if Infinity would agree to litigate the insurer's alleged bad faith by declaratory judgment before adjudication of the underlying tort claims under what is now known as a "<u>Cunningham</u> agreement," named after this court's decision in <u>Cunningham v. Standard Guaranty Ins. Co.</u>, 630 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 1994). (R-15 2944). Under the terms of Swope's proposal, if Infinity were found not guilty of bad faith in the declaratory judgment action, Taylor would accept policy limits and

give Berges, Moody and Infinity a complete release. (R-15 2945). On the other hand, if Infinity were found guilty of bad faith, the insurer would be responsible for all of Taylor's damages irrespective of policy limits. (R-15 2945). Under either alternative, Berges would have been fully protected from an excess judgment. (R-15 2945). Infinity rejected Swope's offer by letter from its attorney dated October 30, 1990. (R-15 2966).

This court issued the <u>Cunningham</u> opinion on January 6, 1994. On May 3, 1994, Swope renewed his proposal to litigate the bad faith case before deciding the underlying tort claims with Berges receiving complete protection from an excess judgment. (R-15 2893 at Tab 40). In that letter, Swope specifically referenced the <u>Cunningham</u> decision and mentioned this court's resolution of the then unsettled jurisdictional issues. (R-15 2893 at Tab 40). Infinity declined Swope's renewed offer and Taylor proceeded with his claims against Berges. (R-8 1567).

Taylor v. Berges

As affirmative defenses to Taylor's suit, Berges and Moody alleged accord and satisfaction, release and settlement based on the negotiations between Fryer and Taylor. (R-6 1033-34). The settlement defenses were bifurcated from the other issues and submitted to a jury with the following interrogatory: "Was there a settlement and compromise agreement between the Defendants and the Plaintiff to settle the claim of James Taylor as Personal Representative of the Estate of Marion Taylor and James Taylor as the natural guardian of Christina Michelle Taylor vs. Barry L. Berges and Linda Moody." (R-8 1492, 1496). The jury answered "yes." (R-8 1492, 1496). The trial court, however, granted Taylor a new trial because Berges and Moody used documentary evidence (the insurance policy) at trial which had not been disclosed previously. (R-8 1515-18).

After the trial court granted a new trial, Taylor filed a reply to the affirmative defenses in which he alleged that the minor's settlement was not binding without court approval and that he "had no authority to enter into a binding settlement until he was appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of Marion Viola Taylor, and court approval was obtained for the claims of the minor children pursuant to sections 744.387 and 768.25, Florida Statutes." (R-8 1532). Berges and Moody took the contrary position and argued: "The settlement agreement was for Dixie Insurance Company to pay the money upon court approval and for TAYLOR to accept the money upon court approval. The executory nature of obtaining court approval does not invalidate the agreement." (R-8 1578). Berges and Moody also argued that Taylor's conduct bound the estate pursuant to section 733.601, Florida Statutes, which "provides that actions taken by a personal representative prior to appointment are, in essence, ratified by appointment." (R-8 1578).

agreed with Taylor and granted partial summary judgment in his favor on the defense of accord and satisfaction. (R-8 1610-11).

A jury subsequently returned a damage verdict awarding Taylor \$911,400 for the wrongful death claim, \$500,000 for Christina's bodily injury claim and \$3,000,000 in punitive damages against Moody. (R-8 1615-18). On February 25, 1995, the trial court entered judgment upon the jury verdict. (R-8 1624-25; R-31 E99-100). By opinion dated February 26, 1996, the second district affirmed the final judgment except for the punitive damage award against Moody. (R-8 1628). <u>See Moody v. Taylor</u>, 670 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

C. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURTS BELOW <u>Pleadings and Summary Judgment</u>

After the excess judgment was affirmed, Berges filed the instant bad faith action against Infinity based on the insurer's failure to settle the Taylor claims within policy limits and its failure to adequately communicate with and advise its insured. (R-1 1-8). Berges also alleged that Infinity breached its obligation of good faith by refusing to accept Taylor's <u>Cunningham</u> proposals. (R-1 5, ¶ 17).

Before Berges filed his complaint in the bad faith case, Berges, Taylor and Infinity entered into an agreement in which Berges assigned the proceeds of the bad faith action to Taylor and received a three-year stay of execution on the excess judgment. (R-11 2192-98). The stay of execution has expired, and the agreement does not provide for satisfaction of the excess judgment against Berges in the event the bad faith action ultimately proves unsuccessful. (R-11 2192-98). Following extensive discovery, Infinity moved for summary judgment asserting that (1) the insurer could not, as a matter of law, settle Taylor's claims within the time frames established by his May 2 letter because Taylor lacked the necessary legal authority to effectuate a settlement for the estate and minor child; (2) the insurer timely tendered its policy limits; (3) Berges was judicially estopped from arguing that Infinity had failed to settle the claims in a timely manner because Taylor had successfully asserted in the underlying tort action that he lacked the requisite capacity to settle; and (4) the insurer was not obligated, as a matter of law, to accept Taylor's <u>Cunningham</u> offer to litigate the bad faith issue before deciding the underlying tort claims. (R-4 788-811). Berges moved for partial summary judgment on the issue of Infinity's breach of its duty to communicate with and advise its insured. (R-12 2225-44). The trial court granted summary judgment for Infinity on the <u>Cunningham</u> issue but otherwise denied both motions. (R-18 3543-47).

Bad Faith Trial

The bad faith action proceeded to jury trial on August 23, 1999. (R-36 1). In addition to testimony from Taylor, Berges and Infinity's claims personnel, the parties presented expert testimony from attorneys and a claims consultant.³ Attorney William A. Pruett testified that Infinity acted in bad faith by failing to settle the Taylor claims within policy limits and by failing to adequately advise Berges regarding settlement opportunities and his exposure to an excess judgment.⁴ (R-37 251, 314). Pruett testified that the terms of

³ The evidence introduced at trial was essentially the same as the evidence submitted by the parties on motions for summary judgment. (R-15 2893, Tabs 1-43; R-5-9; R-9 1681-1867; R-10 1868-2023).

⁴ Pruett gave similar opinions in his affidavit filed in opposition to Infinity's motion for summary judgment. (R-15 2888-92)

Taylor's settlement offer were reasonable and could have and should have been met by Infinity within the specified time limits. (R-37 280-83). In Pruett's opinion, if Infinity could not meet the deadlines, the insurer should have opened the escrow accounts discussed in Taylor's letter (R-37 281, 285) or requested an extension of time from Taylor, which is standard practice in adjusting claims. (R-37 306-07). Pruett described Infinity's May 11 response to Taylor's settlement offer as a counteroffer because it offered policy limits without any time restraints and less than the requested amount for property damage. (R-37 287-88, 295). In Pruett's opinion, Infinity's failure to settle Taylor's claims within the specified time limits caused the excess judgment against Berges. (R-37 314). Pruett also opined that Infinity's claims handling procedures fell below applicable standards. (R-37 251).

Concerning Infinity's duty to advise its insured, Pruett testified that the insurer should have communicated the May 2 settlement offer to Berges, especially because on that date the company was operating under reservation of rights which could have led to a coverage denial. (R-37 274). Pruett also testified that Infinity should have kept Berges apprised of all settlement negotiations, including the company's May 11 response to Taylor's offer, and should have advised Berges of the probable outcome of litigation and steps he might have taken to protect himself, including hiring a lawyer to intervene on his behalf. (R-37 289-90).

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