# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

BARRY L. BERGES,	)		
Petitioner,	) )		
vs.	) )	Case No.:	SC01-2846
INFINITY INSURANCE COMPANY, formerly known as Dixie Insurance Company,	)	)	
Respondent.	) )		
	)		

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT CASE NOS. 2D99-5014 AND 2D00-1972

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Tracy Raffles Gunn, Esquire FOWLER WHITE BOGGS BANKER P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, FL 33601 813 228-7411 Florida Bar No.: 984371 Attorneys for Respondent

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Berges admits that Mr. Taylor had no authority to release the claims when the demand period expired. An insurer's duty of good faith requires it to protect its insured. Infinity's failure to deliver the policy limits to a person with no authority to release the insured from liability was in compliance with, not a breach of, that duty.

Mr. Berges' "relation back" argument was not raised in the Second District, and thus should not be addressed at all. On the merits, the doctrine applies only to actions benefitting the estate, and has never been used to validate a release. Furthermore, the timing of the offer makes its impossible for the relation back doctrine to cure the defect in Mr. Taylor's capacity in this case.

Mr. Berges should not be permitted to argue that Mr. Taylor had authority to settle the claims, because a prior final judgment in the tort case determined he did not. The parties in this case are in privity with and have the same interests as the parties in that case. The prior judgment should have preclusive effect here.

The Second District also correctly held that Infinity did not act in bad faith in failing to advise the insured of the Taylor demand, both because it was not a genuine "settlement opportunity," and because Infinity agreed within the stated time period to pay the demand. The duty to advise is designed to ensure that the insured can protect himself if the insurance company fails to do so. Here, Mr. Berges

could not have obtained a valid release, and could not have protected himself, any more than Infinity could.

The Second District also correctly affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Infinity on the <u>Cunningham</u> issue. The 1990 proposal was made when the law would not have allowed the procedure proposed by Mr. Swope. Infinity cannot be in bad faith for refusing to agree to a legally impermissible procedure. Likewise, the 1990 proposal does not meet the requirements of the <u>Cunningham</u> decision. The 1994 proposal was never argued at the Second District, and cannot be raised in the Court for the first time.

Contrary to the characterization offered by Berges and the Academy, Infinity did not wholly refuse to negotiate with the claimant. Infinity agreed to pay its policy limits, timely and within the original demand period. To the extent that an insurer in the future reads the <u>Berges</u> decision to validate its complete refusal to evaluate and negotiate a claim before a personal representative is appointed or a guardianship established, the hypothetical arguments raised by the Academy and by Berges should be addressed. However, this is simply not the case here.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues determined by the Second District Court of Appeal are questions of law. This Court, like the Second District, is entitled to review those issues de novo.

# <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# I. INFINITY DID NOT ACT IN BAD FAITH BY FAILING TO DELIVER THE OFFERED POLICY LIMITS TO MR. TAYLOR WITHIN HIS ARBITRARY TIME LIMIT, WHEN HE DID NOT HAVE THE LEGAL AUTHORITY TO RELEASE THE INSURED FROM LIABILITY DURING THE TIME HE WAS WILLING TO ACCEPT THE POLICY LIMITS.

There is no question that Infinity timely evaluated the case, acknowledged Mr. Taylor's authority to make and negotiate the claims, and agreed during the demand period to pay the policy limits to Mr. Taylor. Infinity simply refused to physically deliver the policy proceeds to Mr. Taylor until he had the legal authority to release Infinity's insured, Mr. Berges. It is likewise undisputed that Mr. Taylor never had that legal authority during the time that he was willing to accept the policy limits. The Second District properly reaffirmed that an insurer's duty of good faith is to protect its insured, not to deliver payment to claimants who cannot release the insured from further exposure.<sup>6/</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6/</sup> Infinity continues to contend that there is no express and direct conflict in this case, for the reasons expressed in its jurisdictional brief. Infinity will not repeat those arguments here, and will direct this brief to the grounds for an approval of the DCA decision. Nevertheless, Infinity does alternatively request that this Court simply enter an order determining that jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

A. AN INSURER'S DUTY OF GOOD FAITH REQUIRES IT TO PROTECT THE INSURED, AND THE INSURED IS NOT PROTECTED UNLESS THE POLICY LIMITS ARE PAID TO A CLAIMANT WHO CAN EXECUTE A VALID RELEASE.

The basis of an insurer's duty of good faith is its obligation to protect its insured from excess judgments. <u>Boston Old Colony Ins. Co.</u> <u>v. Gutierrez</u>, 386 So. 2d 783 (Fla.1980). As such, the carrier has the duty to settle a claim when such settlement is reasonable and in the insured's best interest. In this case, the Second District properly concluded that any delivery of the policy proceeds to Mr. Taylor before he had the authority to execute a release would not have been in the insured's best interest.

It is significant, and undisputed, that Infinity agreed to pay the policy limits during the time demand period, and that this agreement was never withdrawn. The sole issue is whether funds should have been actually delivered to the claimant before he had the capacity to release the insured. (R.V.5, P.877-878).

It is well established that a release of the insured is a valid and necessary condition of an insurer's offer to settle a claim. <u>See</u> <u>Erhardt v. Duff</u>, 729 So.2d 529(Fla. 4th DCA 1999).<sup>2/</sup> This rule is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1'</sup> In this case, Mr. Taylor's May 2, 1990, settlement demand expressly recognized these conditions. He agreed to take the steps necessary to effectuate his ability to settle both claims. This is not a case where the insurer injected a new or unexpected condition to the settlement. <u>Compare Nichols v.</u> <u>Hartford Ins. Co. of the Midwest</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D2188 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002).

logical given the basis for the duty of good faith - to protect the insured from the risk of excess judgment. To require insurers to pay their limits without obtaining a release of the insured improperly subordinates the duty to protect the insured to some "duty" to pay the claimant.

This Court has expressly rejected the argument that the insurer's duty is to pay the claimant as opposed to protecting the insured. In <u>Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Cope</u>, 462 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1985), this Court explained that when it allowed third party claimants to bring bad faith actions:

nowhere . . . did we change the basis for recovery. We did not extend the duty of good faith by an insurer to its insured to a duty of an insurer to a third party.

462 So. 2d at 460-61.

Likewise, in <u>State Farm Fire and Casualty v. Zebrowski</u>, 706 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that an insurer's duty to settle claims runs only to the insured and not to third party claimants. This Court recognized that to extend a duty to settle to a third party claimant would:

place a liability insurance company in the dilemma of having a good-faith obligation to a third-party claimant as well as to its insured when the best interest of one would not necessarily be in the best interest of the other.

706 So.2d at 277.

Courts around the country have recognized that an insurer may not be held liable in bad faith for rejecting a settlement offer that

leaves the insured exposed to other claims. See Coe v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 136 Cal.Rptr. 331 (Cal. App. 1977); Strauss v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 31 Cal.Rptr.2d 811(Cal.App. 1994). See Risinger v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 711 So. 2d 293 (La. App. 1997)("The insurer in the present case, by conditioning its settlement offer upon a release of its insured, obviously sought to protect that party to whom its primary duties extended.")(Hightower, J., concurring).

It is therefore clear that an insurer does not breach its duty to its insured by requiring a binding release of the insured before payment is delivered.

- B. INFINITY'S ACTIONS IN THIS CASE WERE CONSISTENT WITH ITS DUTY TO PROTECT THE INSURED, SINCE TAYLOR HAD NO AUTHORITY TO RELEASE THE INSURED DURING THE TIME HE WAS WILLING TO ACCEPT THE POLICY LIMITS.
  - 1. Taylor Did Not Have Authority to Release the Minor Claims

Mr. Taylor did not have the ability to give a binding release during the time period he arbitrarily chose for settlement of the claim. A settlement of a minor's claim of \$5,000.00 or greater is not binding absent court approval and compliance with the provisions of chapter 744.<sup>8</sup>/ <u>See Fla. Stat.</u> §§ 744.301(2); 744.387(2); 744.387 (3)(a); <u>Auerbach v. McKinney</u>, 549 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). The

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{8}{}$  Court approval is not required for settlements of less than \$5,000.00. There is no question that the claim in this case exceeded that limit.

guardian does not have authority to execute a binding release, and the defendant is not protected from later attack, unless the settlement is approved by the court as required in the statute. <u>Fla. Stat</u>. § 744.387(3)(b); <u>Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc. v. Lazarus</u>, 512 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>Central Nat. Ins. Co. v. Fernandez</u>, 307 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); <u>Lee v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.</u>, 303 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). The settlement-approval procedures apply equally to pre-suit settlements. <u>Sullivan v. Department of Transp.</u>, 595 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

In <u>Sullivan v. Department of Transportation</u>, 595 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the court allowed the father/personal representative to bring a wrongful death claim on behalf of his minor children/survivors, despite an earlier settlement. The defendant was left exposed to the claim because the earlier settlement had not been court-approved.

In fact, these principles are so well-founded that in <u>Auerbach v</u>. <u>McKinney</u>, 549 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), the court found it "inexplicable" that an insurer would make payment in settlement of a minor's claim without court approval. The court even questioned the ethics of the parties in making the payment, because "this conduct is so contrary to the requirements of the law, and therefore of the universal practice deemed necessary to protect the clients of defense counsel." 549 So. 2d at 1031, n.1. The Plaintiff's argument in this case is that Infinity was in bad faith for not doing what the <u>Auerbach</u> court found "inexplicable" and contrary to the "requirements law" and

"universal practice" in that case. Under <u>Auberbach</u>, Infinity would have breached its duty to its insured had it delivered the funds to Mr. Taylor prior to court approval. The Second District correctly held that Infinity cannot be in bad faith for doing what <u>Auerbach</u> requires.

To avoid the minor settlement approval issues, Berges cites <u>Government Employees Ins. Co. v. Grounds</u>, 311 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). In <u>Grounds</u>, an insurer failed to offer to settle a claim and argued that it could not have made the offer because an outstanding government lien precluded settlement. The court held that rather than failing to make a settlement offer, the insurer should have offered its limits subject to the lien being settled, thereby fulfilling both its duty to protect its insured against all the pending claims and its duty to settle the case.

In this case, Infinity did precisely what the court required in <u>Grounds</u>. Infinity negotiated with Mr. Taylor, agreed to pay him the policy limits, and simply required the court approval prior to delivery of payment. Even the authority relied upon by Berges supports Infinity's actions in this case.

2. Taylor Did Not Have Authority to Release the Wrongful Death Claim.

The same analysis applies to the wrongful death claim. Mr. Taylor did not have the authority to settle the wrongful death claim during the demand period because he was not the personal representative of his wife's estate. It is clear that wrongful death claims can only be

settled by the personal representative. <u>See Fla. Stat.</u> § 768.20; <u>Williams v. Infinity</u>, 745 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) (rejecting the argument that an insurer was in bad faith for insisting that its payment be made only to the personal representative); <u>Ding v. Jones</u>, 667 So.2d 894, 897 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); <u>Continental National Bank v.</u> <u>Brill</u>, 636 So. 2d 782, 784 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994); <u>Funchess v. Gulf Stream</u> <u>Apartments of Broward County, Inc.</u>, 611 So. 2d 43, 45 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Berges apparently concedes, as he did during the district court proceedings, that Taylor had no authority to execute a valid release until the letters of administration were issued to him. Likewise, he does not dispute that the letters were not issued until after the settlement period (which was unilaterally established by him) had expired. Nonetheless, he argues that the issuance of the letters of administration "relates back" to validate the settlement "offer" he made prior to their issuance.

Notably, section 733.601 and the "relation back" argument were not raised by Berges in the DCA proceedings until the rehearing motion. Arguments not presented to the District Court of Appeal may not be raised for the first time in this Court. <u>See Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal</u>, 737 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1999); <u>Schreiber v. Schreiber</u>, 217 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1968). The argument should be rejected for that reason alone.

On the merits, Berges argues that Taylor had authority to "act" for the estate as of the date of death. This is not in dispute. Infinity was dealing with Taylor and had even agreed to pay him the policy limits. Infinity did not refuse to negotiate with Mr. Taylor, as Berges and the Academy fear that the District Court decision allows insurers to do. The sole issue, which Berges has not addressed, is whether Taylor had authority to execute a valid release in order to conclude the settlement. Significantly, Berges cites no authority for the proposition that the relation back doctrine can validate a release signed by the would-be personal representative during the pre-issuance period.

In fact, relation back will apply only to those acts which are "beneficial to" the estate. <u>See Griffin v. Workman</u>, 73 So.2d 844 (Fla.1954). Releasing a claim of the estate is not for the estate's benefit. Infinity did not condition payment of the policy limits on Taylor's signing the release prior to his obtaining the letters of administration. Mr. Taylor did not have to take some action within a certain period of time in order to obtain payment of the policy limits. Berges' citation of cases allowing a survivor to file a wrongful death action before letters are issued simply illustrates the point. The relation back doctrine allows protection of the estate assets

(such as by filing a claim before the statute of limitations expires) but not waiver of such assets.

Furthermore, <u>Griffin</u> held that the relation back doctrine applies only if no other party is deprived of a "substantial right." 73 So.2d at 847. Allowing the doctrine to validate an invalid settlement opportunity, after the opportunity is no longer available, and then holding that an insurer is in bad faith for refusing to pay its limits to the claimant before the defect in capacity was cured, would prejudice not only the insurer's rights but also the insured's. Assuming that Petitioner is not arguing that the insurer is always in bad faith, he must be arguing that Infinity would have been in good faith had it paid its policy limits to Mr. Taylor before he could release the insured. Such a rule would leave insureds exposed to numerous claims in cases where the defect in capacity does not ultimately get cured.

Even if the relation-back doctrine would have validated a pre-issuance settlement, it does not create a duty on the part of the insurer to predict that it will, pay its policy limits in reliance on that prediction, and leave its insured exposed to additional claims until such time as the prediction may come true. In fact, an insurer may be in bad faith for doing exactly what Petitioner suggests - paying policy limits to a person without authority to release the insured.

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